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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN
NORTHERN DIVISION

ALENA CLARK,
Plaintiff, CaséNo. 19-10106
Honorable Thomas L. Ludington

V.

COUNTY OF SAGINAW,
et al.,

Defendants.
/

OPINION AND ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

On January 11, 2019, Plaintiff, Alena Clarkfamer Assistant Prosecuting Attorney
(“APA”) for Saginaw County fild a complaint again®efendants John McColgan, the elected
Prosecutor for Saginaw County, GhBoyd, a former APA, and ti@ounty of Saginaw. Plaintiff
alleged in Count | that all Defendants violateel Bfichigan Elliot-Larsei€ivil Rights Act because
“gender was at least one factor that made a éifiez in Defendants’ decision to pay Plaintiff less,
terminate Plaintiff, and treat hdifferently than similarly sitated male employees.” ECF No. 1
at PagelD.6. In Count Il she contends thatDafendants retaliated amst her for “opposing
violations of the Elliott-Larsen Actld. at PagelD.7. Count Il idéifies a claim under 42 U.S.C.
8§ 1983 and the First Amendment alleging Delflents McColgan and Boyd terminated her
employment because of her “speakiout against gender discriminationd. at PagelD.8-9.
Count IV alleges a claim under 42 U.S.&.1983 and the Fourteenth Amendment against
McColgan and Boyd for treating her diffetéy “than similarly situated APA’s.Id. at PagelD.9—-

10. Count V is brought against the County of 8agi under the Equal Pay Act alleging that she
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was promoted to the classiftaan of APA Il but was not “paidommensurate with the position,
such as similarly situated male APA’s$d. at PagelD.10-11.

The case management and schedulingrondes extended twice. ECF Nos. 9, 24, 27.
Discovery closed on April 18, 2020. Howevdiscovery was extendashtil May 11, 2020 and
then later to May 15, 2020, to provitle five depositions that were noticed prior to the April 18,
2020 discovery deadline. ECF Nos. 33, 47.

Multiple discovery issues have been addressed by court order, including Plaintiff's and
Defendants’ motions to compslipplementary discovery which weedenied (ECF Nos. 29, 32,
34, 35, 36, 58). An order was entered compelbejendant McColgan’s deposition on May 11,
2020 as well as setting procedures for remopmsitions. ECF Nos. 43, 47. Plaintiff’s motion for
attorney fees was granted in part. ECF No. 70.

On June 4, 2020, Defendafited a motion for summary glgment. ECF No. 62. Response
and reply briefs were timely filed. ECF Nos. 65, 68.

l.
A.
Alena Clark was hired as an APA onbirgary 2, 2016 for Sagaw County. ECF No. 62-
7 at PagelD.1466. She workedaasAPA for two years until hemployment waserminated on
August 29, 2018. ECF No. 65-2 at PagelD.1732. Durimgniif's tenure, there were multiple
supervisors in the Prosecutor’s office. JohnQdigan was the elected Prosecutor in Saginaw
County at the time of Clark’'s employment arainains the Prosecutor today. ECF No. 62 at
PagelD.1414. Christopher Boyd was the Chief AaaisProsecuting Attorney from January 2013
until his retirement in September 2018. ECF. §2-7 at PagelD.1465. Mark Gaertner was the

interim Chief Assistant Prosecungj Attorney when Boyd was on aiieal leave and later became



Chief Assistant Prosecuting Atteey after Boyd's retement. ECF No. 62-9 at PagelD.1482. Blair
Stevenson was the interim Deputy Chief AssistProsecuting Attorney when Boyd was on
medical leave and resumed the job dutiestfoik after Boyd's retement. ECF No. 62-10.
B.
i
The Saginaw County Prosecutirgtorneys Collective Bargaing Agreement, as it
appears relevant to thimse, provides as follows,

Section 2.3 — Prosecutor Rights

The Prosecuting Attorney retains all rigiptrovided by law which includes but are
not limited to those listed here:

(b) To hire and discharge Employeesered by this Agreement at will. . . .

(c) To promote, discipline or spend Employees covered by this
Agreement. . .

(g) To select Employees for Protion without regard to seniority.

(h) To make judgments regardingkill, ability, qualifications and
competence of Employees.

Section 2.4 — County Rights

The County has exclusive righto determine the numbef AssistantProsecuting
Attorneys in each classtfation, and to increase or decrease the number of
Employees retained.

9.2 — Rates of Pay and NumberRybsecutors Per Classification

The Saginaw County Board of Commissioneas the sole alibrity to determine
the number of Assistant Prosecutiltorneys and the number in each
classification level.

The Prosecuting Attorney has the sole atiti to determine where each Employee
shall be classified, limited to the nber of assistant prosecuting attorneys
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budgeted in each classification, subject onlghtoinitial implematation of Section
9.3.

The Prosecuting Attorney reserves the right to, at any time, reassign any
Employee’s classification ostep level within the limitations in this Article.
However, no Employee’s compensation lesiehll be reduced during the term of
this Agreement.

Section 9.3 — Initial Placeamt and Movement in Salary Grid of EXxisting
Employees:

Effective each subsequent anniversariedthe employee shall be moved to the
next higher Step leveha be paid at his or her salary rate for the applicable year as
reflected in Schedule A, except as [otherwise provided].

Any employee who is promoted from hislar initial classification shall be paid
at the next step level ing¢lmew classification t is at least 5%bove the salary
being received immediatebefore the promotion.

Any employee who is classified at Step alsimove to Step 2 six months after his
or her anniversary date and to Step 3 gpear after his or her anniversary date.
Further step increases shall occur annuhlgyeafter in accoemhce with the terms
of this Article.

9.7 — Implementation of Step Increases

All step increases provided for in thissagment shall take effect on an Employee’s
anniversary date expeas forth below.

If the Prosecuting Attorney determinestlan Employee’s work performance is

not satisfactory, he/she ahinform the Employeethe Union and the County’s
Personnel Office of this in writing, inclualy the reasons therefor, no later than 30
days prior to the Employee’s anniversaryedénat would result in a step increase.
The step increase may then be postponed for up to ninety (90) days to provide the
Employee an opportunity to improve his/tveork performance. At or before the

end of that time, the Ephoyee shall receive the eft increase if adequate
improvement has been made.

ECF No. 62-2 at PagelD.1447-50. A copy of Stthe A was not included by either party.
The facts, as best they canéarned from the parties’ papevsl be summarized hereafter.

However, it is important to note that the oxlgcument relating to themployment practices of



the Saginaw County Prosecutasffice furnished to the Cours the Collective Bargaining
Agreement (“CBA”"). The witness statements rafea number of additial terms which are not
defined and upon which there appears to be little agreementl ARMAPA 1l appear to be two
employee classifications for the Prosecutaffice created by the County Commissioners under
Section 9.2 of the CBA. However, no definitionsgmverning criteria for the two classifications
are provided. There is no explanation of what éxpected rate of progssion would be or the
relationship between the employgelassification and the employee’s compensation. There is no
explanation about the relatidnip between the classificatiorend the “step’compensation
increases provided for under Section 9.3 of thé @t are annual and automatic. There is also
no explanation about how promotions would agcdwow the fact of the promotion would be
recorded or how the employee wad e informed of the promati. Finally, a number of withesses
refer to the term “docket attorney,” again withdefinition and little consensus. Some refer to it
as a permanent status of certain APAs, some tefit as a temporargssignment of status. No
one explains how the status relates to ¢neployee’s CBA classification or compensation.
Nevertheless, the evidence summedliby the parties appears suffici to address the Defendants’
motion for summary judgment.
i.

On January 29, 2018, Clark was moved to “amMARposition, but remain[ed] as an APA
| payscale.” ECF No. 62-4 at PagelD.1457. Mc@algestified that moving Clark from an APA |
to APA 1l “was most likely the result of aonversation between [ ] Boyd and myself.” ECF No.
62-3 at PagelD.1454. Clark did not learn aboutéatassification until afteher termination. ECF
No. 62-8 at PagelD.1474. Boyd and McColgan avktinat Clark was ndpromoted” from APA

| to APA I, but simply was assigned an ARPIAPCN without further eglanation. ECF No. 62-7



at PagelD.1467; ECF No. 62-19RagelD.1589. McColgan further testified and Boyd concurred
that sometimes an employee’s “personnel numbetild be moved from an APA | to APA I
classification, even though the employee was notiaffy promoted “to keep the II's occupied so
the [County] Board [of Commissioners], if they nedrying to take something away wouldn'’t try
and take a Il because someone was in it FB@®. 62-3 at PagelD.1454; ECF No. 62-7 at
PagelD.1466. Boyd averred that “Regyning [Personnel statusactge numbers] between APA |
and APA 1l is not a promotion nor a demotibat merely for personnel tracking and accounting
purposes,” again, without further egphtion. ECF No. 62-7 at PagelD.1466.

The same process occurred for APA Dakeh Norman and APA Melissa Hoover. ECF
No. 62-5 at PagelD.1459, 1460; ECF No. 65dt1PagelD.1878. Boyd alsproffered that
Attorneys Kanuszewski, Reimers, Ruffin, Sawg&venson, Baker, ancanNorman were also
APA Is in fact but had APA 1l PCN designations. ECF No. 62-7 at PagelD.1467. The only
additional information furnished is a spreadsheat éppears to have beemated by Defendants.
See ECF No. 65-12. Some limited, but additibriaformation is provided regarding APA
Stevenson and APA Reimers.

Defendants note that Blair Stevenson was rsiflad to an APA Il PCN and received APA
Il compensation for a few montlas the end of 2014, even thoughreenained classified as an
APA I. McColgan testified that was intended as a workaroundpimvide an end of year bonus
for Stevenson, with the understamgithat his compensation and ddigation status would return
to APA | at the beginning of the follomy year. ECF No. 65-4 at PagelD.1841. However,
Stevenson’s compensation could not be decreassslit was increased under the CBA. Therefore,
despite Defendants’ frustrations, tetained the APA Il compensation and classification but as an

APA |. ECF No. 65-4 at PagelD.1841-42. Mr. Reimers@enel status change notice states that



he was “changed from” APA | tAPA Il with a commensurate compensation increase, but he was
to retain his PCN number. EFC No. 65-10 ayét®.1875. It is uncledirom the notice if Mr.
Reimers’ PCN was assigned to classification status APA | or APA II.

There are no set criteria for promoting ARA from APA | to Il (as compared to the
apparent administrative process for changarg attorney’s PCN from APA | to APA II).
McColgan testified that they loakt “[c]ases tried, how [attorneybhndle their cases, amount of
cases, ablility] to functiom the office without dramaECF No. 62-3 at PagelD.1453.

C.

There are three main categories of Clark’s behavior that were criticized by her supervisors
and colleagues and, according to Defendants, léetdermination. Firsther relationship with
former APA Kanuszewski. Secontier role in instigating or continuing an office conflict,
including bullying other APAs. Finally, henismanagement of a major felony case.

i

Clark is a personalifnd of APA Michael Kanuszewskivho has an unspecified pending
employment suit against Saginaw County. @neJ29, 2018, Clark testifiethat she saw Boyd
enter Kanuszewski’s office (while Kanuszewski wasadadihe office, but noyet terminated) and
that she texted Kanuszewski taform him that Boyd was irhis office. ECF No. 62-7 at
PagelD.1468. She offered to take any personalsito Kanuszewski after he was suspenttbd.
After this event, Boyd averreddahhe believed Kanuszewski “had been using his relationship with
Ms. Clark to gather informatioregarding management’s handlinghi¢ employment matter . . .

. [and] concluded that Ms. Clark could noder be trusted.” ECF No. 62-7 at PagelD.1468.

McColgan reached the same conclusion. ECF No. 62-19 at PagelD.1590.



In an effort to discus&anuszewski’'s employment statusth all of the APAs, Boyd
convened a meeting of the APAs onugust 14, 2019. ECF No. 62-7 at PagelD.1470. An
attendance sheet was circulated. ECF No. 62-7 at PagelD.1470. During the meeting, Clark asked
fellow APA Nate Collision about the attendansheet. ECF No. 62-7 at PagelD.1470. Clark
testified that she spoke at a “whisper.” EC#. §5-2 at PagelD.1767. Boyd averred that when he
“stopped talking and asked Collison if thereswaaproblem[,] Mr. Collison responded that Ms.
Clark had a question about the intention and purpose for the sign-in sheet [and] apologized for the
interruption.” ECF No. 62-7 @agelD.1470. Boyd averred Clarkerrupted him a second time
and volunteered in response tae question that she had hearémthing he had said. ECF No.
62-7 at PagelD.1470; ECF No. 62-11 at PagelD.1B88d then prompted Clark to repeat what
he said and after “progjing] an incomplete ponse [he] interjected,itlv ‘and?’ prompting her
to continue.” ECF No. 62-7 at PagelD.1470; B@#- 62-11 at PagelD.1498lark testified that
Boyd “kept getting louder andhore aggressive” throughout tkhenversation. ECF No. 65-2 at
PagelD.1769. Boyd averred he “did not ask Mr. Cofliso reiterate what | said, because | was
able to reiterate my pointhrough Ms. Clark’s responses ahdcause Mr. Collision did not
indicate that he heard eyeword.” ECF No. 62-7 at PagelD.1470. Boyd averred that Clark’s
“reaction” at the meeting “confirmed that shas disgruntled regarding the handling of the
Kanuszewski matter and awareathH knew she was communicag with Kanuszewski about
matters transpiring in the Prosecutor’'s céfi’ ECF No. 62-7 at PagelD.1470. Collison later
averred that “Boyd addressed the interruptionspgaking to both of us.” ECF No. 62-25 at
PagelD.1673.

In late August, an unidentified APA inform@&dcColgan that Clark’s vehicle was located

at Kanuszewski’'s residence. ECF No. 65-4 at PagelD.1826. McColgdredethat he never



spoke with Clark about her visits with Kanuszewski or his eore about her not following
directions. ECF No. 65-4 at PagelD.1826.
il.

APA Gaertner stated in his affidavit that:

Clark was a bully who alienated and demeaned fellow APA’s. | learned that Ms.

Clark was regularly bullying and demeag Jolina O’Berry, Dan Pollard, Drew

Sauter, Daniel Straka,nd Melissa Hoover. [ ] | lrned that Ms. Clark was

attempting to remove or reassign fildsat | had assigned to various APA’s,

inferring that the assigned APAs were nangpetent to handle the files. [] | learned

that Ms. Clark had directed various policesmanel not to take to [sic] warrants to

certain APA’s, because they were incompetent. [ ] Ms. Clark was angry and

disgruntled regarding management®ndling of the Michael Kanuszewski

employment matter.
ECF No. 62-9 at PagelD.1484. Stevenson’s affidagltides the same allegations against Clark—
she was a bully, demeaned APAs Hoover, PalI&auter, and O’Berry, interfered with police
personnel on warrants, attemptedreassign files, and becardesgruntled regaling Michael
Kanuszewski’'s employment matter. ECF No. 62aflPagelD.1490. McColgan'’s affidavit averred
that Clark was a bully, especially regardidglina O'Berry and “interjected herself into
management issues involving APA Trevisfltuand Shrondra Clement.” ECF No. 62-19 at
PagelD.1589.

O’Berry averred that she madelea bargain offer in one Glark’s casewithout speaking
with Clark first and that afterward Clark did regteak to her for months and bullied her. ECF No.
62-14. Specifically, O'Berry stated that Clarlonitored her communications with management,
advised O’Berry that she believed two oth&PAs were incompetent, and notified police
detectives to avoid giving fiteto certain APAs. ECF No. 62-1@lark, on the other hand, testified

that O’Berry walked into a meeting betweera®land her divorce attaeg without invitation,

Clark apologized that she couldn’t speak w@Berry at the momentand she later avoided



O’Berry at the direction of M& Gaertner. ECF No. 65-2 at PagelD.1729. Clark admits that she
informed management that O’Berry “was bedtigruptive and it was difficult to get [her] work
done.” ECF No. 65-2 at PagelD.1756.
i

Clark was assigned Defendant Troy McClaifélony assault case in November of 2017.
McClain was charged with assault with imteco commit great bodily harm. ECF No. 62-9.
Gaertner averred that Clark agreed to waiveptieéminary exam, thereby failing to preserve the
victim’s testimony, agaist his advice. ECF No. 62-9. Stevensaverred that Clark failed in her
handling of the case.

She disregarded management’s directio conduct a preliminary examination

which later created evidentiary problemsentthe witness was hesitant to testify.

She attempted to dismiss the case after being told that a trial and conviction was

mandatory. She proposed a ridiculoustyv sentence cap to evoke a plea

demonstrating her hesitancytake the case to trial.
ECF No. 62-10 at PagelD.1488. Boydttied he assignethe case to Clarkecause she wanted
“to get some experience on ajoracrime.” ECF No. 62-11 dagelD.1494. Gaertner and Boyd
were displeased with Clark agreeing to wegilie preliminary examrma have the case bound over
to Circuit Court “without prese&ing the wife’s testimony.” ECNo. 62-11 at PagelD.1494. Boyd
testified he believed “we had expiad to [Clark] that part of benotdng a trial attorney in serious
cases is to be able teanage your withesses ando® able to deal witbvidentiary issues.” ECF
No. 62-11 at PagelD.1495.

Additionally, Clark offeed a two-year sentencing ceiling or cap on Mr. McClain’s case,
which was rejected by the Circuit Coultidge. ECF No. 62-11 at PagelD.1497-1498. Boyd

testified that Clark did so despite the fact tmathad informed her a two-year sentencing cap was

unacceptable and that the Judge would nog¢mtcit. ECF No. 62-11 at PagelD.1496-97. Clark
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testified that she never receivady direction that a two-year sentencing cap was unacceptable.
ECF No. 65-2 at PagelD.1758. Ultimately, APA&&inson assumed proston of the case. ECF
No. 62-11 at PagelD.1498.

\Y2

Clark believes she was promoted to APAdcause she became a docket attorney and was
moved to an APA 1l PCN. As notegrlier, she does not define tieem “docket attmey,” explain
what the criteria are, or state who made dieisions to assign dockattorney status. Clark
testified that a docket attorney “is a person who most consistently handles the judge’s docket.”
ECF No. 65-2 at PagelD.1735. She also testified $fhe “do[es]n’t think” an APA | can be
selected as a docket attorney..However, she testified that it was her belief based on the fact that
“[i]t was always a Il that was appointed as a doekttorney.” Boyd testified that he believed the
term “docket attorney” wasraisnomer. ECF No. 65-3 at PagelD.1807. He explained “[w]hat we
did have was the circuit court miscellaneous msitsheet or circuit eot calendar. The APAs
conveniently called it a docket attorney becausg thay be called upon to go to a circuit court
judge’s courtroom for a Monday morning ahdndle everything that was on the dockédl”
Generally, the more experienced attornegsild handle the miscellaneous mattéds.

Clark testified that she was the only ARAvho was assigned as a “regular” docket
attorney. ECF No. 65-2 at PagelD.1735. McColdestified that Boyd, Stevenson or Mark
Gaertner assigned Clark as docket attorfugyJudge Trice. ECF No. 65-4 at PagelD.1842.
According to Clark, APA Is could fill in for dockeittorneys, but were not assigned as a regular
or primary docket attorney. ECF No. 65-2 RagelD.1735. A chart provided by Defendants
demonstrates that the majority of primary kietcattorneys were compensated as APA lls. ECF

No. 62-12. In 2016 and 2017, attorneys paid at th& ARdte were docket attorneys between one
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and three times of the year. However, thereavi@o exceptions, APAs Joe Albosta and Demond
Tibbs. Albosta was the primary docket attorimegourtroom C1 in 2016 and courtrooms C3 and
P1in 2017. Additionally, Tibbs was a docket ate&yrior 12 weeks in 2016 and 3 weeks in 2017
before he was promoted to the APA Il compensation schddule.

The pattern changed in a minor way in 2018AARittorneys filled inas docket attorneys
between three and thirteen wegder year. Two APA Is weresigned as docket attorneys three
times. Three attorneys were assigned as daketneys five times, including Ms. Clark. One
attorney was assigned as a docket attornay timnes and one attorney thirteen timdsHowever,
the permanent status docket attorneys wereyalwaid at the APA Il rate of compensatitah.

D.

After Defendant Boyd’s August 14 meetingdiscuss Mr. KanuszewskClark concluded
that she was singled out for questioning because she was a woman since Dan Pollard and Nate
Collison, male APAs, were not. ECF No. 65-ZapelD.1773. She met with a Human Resources
(“HR”) representative the same week and explhihat she felt targetdny Boyd because she was
female. ECF No. 62-22 at PagelD.1653-54. Clark had two meetings with HR personnel — one on
August 14 and a second on Augist ECF No. 65 at PagelD.17000Rr the record, it appears
that Clark informed one, but nbbbth, HR employees & she believed she waeing discriminated
against because of her gender. ECF Na2®2t PagelD.1665-66; ECF No. 65-2 at PagelD.1777—
79. On the evening of August 14, Clark med a document summarizing her August 14
Kanuszewski meeting. ECF No. 62-22 at Page®®7-48. She never furnighéhe document to
HR or Prosecutor McColgan.

After meeting with HR, Cldrmet with McColgan. ECNo. 62-22 at PagelD.1659. Clark

testified that she informed Mimlgan that she thought Boydlieeed Clark was going to divulge
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confidential information to Kanuszewski whicHvghy initially he started yelling at me. But when
he proceeded to continue to talk to me likeak a child, it was because | was a woman.” ECF No.
62-22 at PagelD.1659-60. She informed McColgan shatwas not interested in pursuing the
issue because Boyd was retiring, provided she “vbel left alone” in the interim. ECF No. 62-
22 at PagelD.1661. Ultimately, Clatestified she never followedp with HR because she was
fired. ECF No. 65-2 at PagelD.1778.response to the questiorb]gfore Alena Clark came to
you on August 20th to have thaeeting, you had not decided toefiher, correct?” McColgan
testified, “I don’t think so."ECF No. 65-4 at PagelD.1823.

McColgan averred that he was informed®Ifelt “embarrassed” during the August 14
meeting, but she “advised [him]ahshe was aware of Boyd'smukng retirement and therefore
did not want to pursue any form of compla® ECF No. 62-19 at PagelD.1590-91. McColgan
concluded, after speakingith Boyd and an APA,that Clark’s “conduct at the meeting [was]
consistent with her disgruntled attitude regarding [his] handling of the Kanuszewski employment
matter.” ECF No. 62-19 at PagelD.1591. Boyd exmdithat he knew Cladpoke with McColgan
about the August 14 meeting, but did not knowdbtails of the conversation. ECF No. 62-7 at
PagelD.1470.

Boyd and McColgan averred that they werat aware that Clark spoke with Human
Resources until after the instarase was filed. ECF No. 62-7 at PagelD.1470; ECF No. 62-19 at
PagelD.1591.

E.
Clark was ultimately terminated ohugust 29, 2018. ECF No. 65-2 at PagelD.1732.

McColgan averred that he fired Clark

1 McColgan does not identify which APA in his affidavit.
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because she was disloyal and spying onagament. She was disgruntled over my

handling of the Kanuszewski employment matter. She was bullying and alienating

fellow APAs. She was not following dicgves from the Deputy Chief Assistant.

The Chief Assistant and Deputy Chief Astant reported that her attitude and

conduct was detrimental to office naband the officeenvironment.

ECF No. 62-19 at PagelD.1592. Clark testified #aColgan informed heit was not working
out when she was fired. ECF No. 65-2 at PagelB5. No adverse employment actions were taken
against Clark prior to her tamination. ECF No65-2 at PagelD.1754.

I.

A motion for summary judgment shld be granted if the “movant shows that there is no
genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is ettifiedgment as a matter of law.”
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). The movipgrty has the initial nden of identifyingwhere to look in the
record for evidence “which believes demonstrate the absenca génuine issue ofaterial fact.”
Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). The burden then shifts to the opposing party
who must set out specific facts showing “a genuine issue for tAiatlérson v. Liberty Lobby,

Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 250 (1986) (citatiomitted). The Counnust view the evience and draw all
reasonable inferences in favortbé non-movant and timine “whether thevidence presents a
sufficient disagreement to requsabmission to a jury or whether it is so one-sided that one party
must prevail as a matter of lawd. at 251-52.

.

A.

In Count I, Plaintiff allege that Defendants discrimindten the basis of her sex in
violation of the Michigan Elliott-Larsen Civil Bhts Act. In Count IV Plaintiff alleges that

Defendants violated her Foaenth Amendment right to eduarotection under 42 USC § 1983.

The two claims are analyzedmying the samdegal framework Smith v. City of Salem, Ohio,
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378 F.3d 566, 577 (6th Cir. 2004) (“[T]he showing amtiéfimust make to recover on a disparate
treatment claim under Title VII mirrors that whiofust be made to recaven an equal protection
claim under section 8§ 1983."Pndricko v. MGM Grand Detroit, LLC, 689 F.3d 642, 652-53 (6th
Cir. 2012) (“[C]ases brought pursuant to the ELCR#& analyzed under the same evidentiary
framework used in Title VII cases.”).
I.
The Michigan Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights A¢“ELCRA”) provides in relevant part:
An employer shall not do any of the following:
(a) Fail or refuse to hire or recruijscharge, or otlmise discriminate
against an individual with respectémployment, compensation, or a term,
condition, or privilege of employment, because of . . . sex. ..
(b) Limit, segregate, or classify amployee or applant for employment
in a way that deprives or tends tgpdee the employee applicant of an
employment opportunity, cotherwise adversely affes the status of an
employee or applicant becgiof . . . sex.. ..
(c) Segregate, classify, or otheraidiscriminate against a person on the
basis of sex with respect to a terwondition, or privilege of employment,
including, but not limited toa benefit plan or system.
M.C.L. § 37.2202.

The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteéatifendment states “[n]state shall . . . deny
to any person within its jurisdiction the eqpabtection of the laws.42 U.S.C. § 1983 provides
a means for an individu&b seek redress against a persdrowinder color of law, violates their
Constitutional rights. In this case, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants violated her Fourteenth
Amendment right to equal protection under the law by discriminating adensn the basis of
sex. Under either Title VII oB 1983, “the plaintiff must edtéish by a preponderance of the

evidence that she was the victim of mtienal or purposefulliscrimination.”Gutzwiller v. Fenik,

860 F.2d 1317, 1325 (6th Cir. 1988). “[A] plaintiff iequired to demonsite that the adverse
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employment decision would not hateen made ‘but fo her sex. Put diffently, the plaintiff
must show that the ‘discrimir@ty intent more likely than not was the basis of the adverse
employment action.”Gutzwiller v. Fenik, 860 F.2d 1317, 1325 (6th Ck988) (internal citation
omitted). “The Equal Protection Clause of tlmufeenth Amendment ‘protects against invidious
discrimination among similarly-situated indilials or implicatingdndamental rights.’Davisv.
Prison Health Services, 679 F.3d 433, 438 (6th Cir. 2012) (citiScarbrough v. Morgan Cty. Bd.
of Education, 470 F.3d 250, 260 (6th Cir. 2006)). “The Equal Protection Clause prohibits
discrimination by government which either burdefsralamental right, targef suspect class, or
intentionally treats one fiierently than others siilarly situated withoutiny rational basis for the
difference.”TriHealth, Inc. v. Board of Commissioners, 430 F.3d 783, 788 (6th Cir. 2005).

Discriminatory treatment can be establdhby direct evidence or indirect and
circumstantial evidencé&niecinski v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Michigan, 666 N.W.2d 186,
192-93 (Mich. 2003). The Michigan Supreme Coufirael direct evidencas “evidence which,
if believed, requires the conclusitmat unlawful discrimination was at least a motivating factor in
the employer’s actionslt. (quotations omitted). The courtrtber held “[ijna direct evidence
case involving mixed motives, i.e., where the aseemployment decisia@ould have been based
on both legitimate and legally impermissible reasanglaintiff must prove that the defendant’s
discriminatory animus was more likely than reotsubstantial’ or ‘motivating’ factor in the
decision.”ld.

A plaintiff may also prove sediscrimination by presentingpdirect evidence under the
burden-shifting approach as articulate&/icDonnell Douglas. McDonnell Douglasv. Green, 411
U.S. 792 (1973)niecinski, 666 N.W.2d at 193. To establish a prifaaie case, thplaintiff must

establish that “(1) she belongsa@rotected class, \&he suffered an adige employment action,
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(3) she was qualified for the position, and k&) failure to obtain the position occurred under
circumstances giving rise to arfenence of unlawful discrimination3niecinski, 666 N.W.2d at
193. A plaintiff can satisfy the fotlr element by demonstrating theiie was “tread differently
from similarly situated employees outside the protected clbftchell v. Vanderbilt Univ., 389
F.3d 177, 181 (6th Cir. 2004).

“If the plaintiff succeeds in establishing a prif@ie case, the burden then shifts to the
employer to articulate a legitate, nondiscriminatory rationalfor the adverse employment
action.” In re Rodriguez, 487 F.3d 1001, 1008 (6th Cir. 2007nce the employer does so, the
burden shifts back to th@aintiff to demonstrate that the auiated reason is a mere pretext for
discrimination.”ld. Pretext may be demonstrated by “shaogvihat the proffered reason (1) has no
basis in fact, (2) did not acilly motivate the defendant'shallenged conduct, or (3) was
insufficient to warrant the challenged condu@eéwsv. A.B. Dick Co., 231 F.3d 1016, 1021 (6th
Cir. 2000).

i.

Plaintiff's claims for violaion of the Equal Protection Clae are predicated on the fact
that she “was treated differently than similasifuated male APA’s dumg her employment based
on her gender.” ECF No. 1 at PagelD.10. Defenddatsot dispute that Platiff is part of a
protected class. She allegeshier response that thehaerse employment aotn at issue for this
claim was the disparity of her compensationcomparison to male APAs. ECF No. 65 at
PagelD.1720-21 (“she can prevail under her pay discrimination claymsstablishing an
inference of discrimination using ‘the liem-shifting framework first set forth iklcDonnell

Douglasv. Green™).

-17 -



Plaintiff does not provid a separate factual assertionifer equal protection claim, instead
relying on her arguments in the Equal Pay Actisacf her brief for her justification. ECF No.
65 at PagelD.1721. Plaintiff appears to argue thatistgualified to bepaid the APA Il salary
because “there is a factual dispute whether being promoted is a necessary prerequisite to APA I
pay” due to the fact that “[a]t least [two] m#ASA Is were ‘reclassifiedbut not promoted to APA
Il and received APA Il pay.” ECF No. 65 atd&D.1719. However, according to Defendants,
Blair Stevenson’s reclassificatiowas not intended to be peanent, but rather meant to
manipulate a one-time bonfmr him. As for APA Reimers, it isinclear if he had an APA | or
APA I PCN classification at thiéme of his promotion or ihe received a pay increase.

Plaintiff further argues that “her skills wenever questioned or criticized, that she was
working increasingly more difficult cases, anattshe was assigned as a Circuit Judge’s docket
attorney.” ECF No. 65 at PagelD.1719-20. Howe®ajntiff advanceso evidence except for
her own testimony that APA Is were not assignedaket attorneys. In fact, while the evidence
demonstrates that APA Is were rarely docketradgs, it also shows that there were two male
APA Is who were permanent docket attornefxsssuming Plaintiff was assigned as a docket
attorney, she was not the first, nor the only, ARA be so assigned. Plaffihas not articulated
a prima facie case of a violati of the equal protection clause of sex discrimination under
Elliott-Larsen. That is, she has not demonstratatishe was qualified to be promoted to the APA
Il classification or that the failure to promotertie the elevated classification gives cause to
believe her sex was the reason Befendants failure to do sBDefendants’ motion for summary

judgment as to Counts hd IV will be granted.
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B.
i

The Michigan Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act prohibits retaliation or discrimination against
an individual because that person has opposegoblation of the act, made a complaint, or
participated in an investigation under the &€L 8§ 37.2701(a). To establish a prima facie case
of ELCRA retaliation, undeCount Il, a plaintiff must show #t: (1) he engaged in protected
activity; (2) the protect activity was known to the defendaKi3) the defendant took adverse
employment action againshe plaintiff; and (4) there vgaa causal connection between the
protected activity and ¢hadverse employment acti@arrett v. Kirtland Cmty. Coll., 628 N.W.2d
63, 70 (Mich. Ct. App. 2001¥%5arg v. Macomb Cty. Cmty. Mental Health Servs., 696 N.W.2d 646,
653 (Mich. 2005). “To establish causatitime plaintiff must show thdtis participation in activity
protected by the CRA was a ‘sifjoant factor’ in the employer’adverse employment action, not
just that there was a causal link between the tBartett, 628 N.W.2d at 70.

i.

Plaintiff alleges that her “coplaint of gender discriminatiazonstitutes activity protected
under the” ELCRA. ECF No. 1 at §aD.7. One requirement for &LCRA retaliation claim is
that Defendants knew of the protected activitjobe the alleged act oktaliation. Plaintiff has
not identified any evidence th&tefendants McColgan or Boythe apparent decision makers,
knew of Plaintiff’'s meeting with HRprior to the instant case. Tleéore, Plaintiff's only plausible
assertion is that her informing McColgan abBatyd’s behavior at # August 14 meeting was
protected activity. Defendants do not appear spute this. The first ement is met. Second,
Defendants were aware of Plaifiifsuggestion to McColgan thahe was mistreated because of

her gender. Plaintiff reported tHescrimination directly to Defendd&McColgan — so he was aware
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of her allegations. Also, Defendant Boyd testified he knd&woua Plaintiff's meeting with
McColgan. As such, the second factor is siisf Third, Defendants terminated Plaintiff’s
employment, thereby satisfying therthfactor. Therefore, the onlaétor in dispute is the causal
connection between the protectatdivity and her termination.

Defendants argue that “Pl&iih was caught spying for Kauszewski,” “was disgruntled
and openly hostile regarding the employmertioas taken regarding Kanuszewski,” did not
follow supervisor directives, and bullied $t&CF No. 62 at PagelD.1436. Defendants argue the
temporal proximity of Plaintiff's discussion witicColgan and her termination date is insufficient
to establish causation. ECF No. 62 at PagkiB6. Plaintiff counters that she was never
disciplined, received a severance after hemitgaition (indicating she was not terminated for
cause), and McColgan “testifidue was not going to fire Clark fage he learned of her gender-
based discrimination coplaint.” ECF No. 65 at PagelD.14-15. Plaintiff does not provide any
citation to McColgan’s deposition testimy to substantiatéis assertion.

Both parties overstate the evidence. Deferslat@ntify no evidence of Plaintiff “spying”
on office operations or disclagj confidential information to Kauszewski. Assertions are not
evidence. Defendants have only identified evagenf her informing her co-worker that their
supervisor was in his office and evidenceaopersonal friendship beeen Kanuszewski and
Plaintiff. There is no evidence that the APAs wiafermed by McColgan or Boyd they could not
speak with Kanuszewski. Plaintiff testified estdid not share confidential information with
Kanuszewski (ECF No. 65-2 at PagelD.1780) antebaants have not identified any evidence
that Plaintiff shared confidential informatiavith Kanuszewski. Defendants have offered some
evidence of Plaintiff's iability to handle majocrime felony cases andahshe mistreated fellow

employees. However, there is no evidence Defendants created an pnovement plan with
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Plaintiff, of supervisors requesg Plaintiff to minimizeher interactions with certain APAs except
for O'Berry, or any negative employment review$ie close temporal pximity of Plaintiff's
report of gender discrimination and the lack of dikiegry records is sufficient to establish a prima
facie case of ELCRA retaliation.

The burden thus shifts back to Defendantslémonstrate that there was a “legitimate,
nondiscriminatory rationale for ¢hadverse employment actioniri re Rodriguez, 487 F.3d at
1008. As discussed above, Defendants have rietedf a legitimate rainale for Plaintiff's
termination. If they were concerned with herfpemance in addressing the McClain case, they
could have chosen to assign her to minor felony and misdemeanor cases. There is no evidence of
Defendants displeasure with Plgiif's work product prior to orafter the McClain case, besides
their beliefs about her attitude. The only negatestimony concerns Plaintiff bullying other
employees. However, according to the Defendahis,behavior continued for months prior to
Plaintiff's protected actity without consequencé&ee e.g.,, ECF No. 62-14 at PagelD.1511-12.
Defendants have not offered a nondiscriminatory maf®for Plaintiff's temination. Defendants’
motion for summary judgment &s Count Il will be denied.

C.

To establish a First Amendment RetaliationrolaCount Ill, a plaintf must prove that:
“(1) he engaged in constitutionally protected speech or conduct; @jvanse action was taken
against him that would deter a person of ordinfrypness from continuing to engage in that
conduct; and (3) there is a causal connection émtvelements one and two—that is, the adverse
action was motivated at least in part by his protected condseei.brough v. Morgan Cnty. Bd.
of Educ., 470 F.3d 250, 255 (6th Cir. 200@yans-Marshall v. Bd. of Education of Tipp City

Exempted Village School District, 624 F.3d 332, 337 (6th Cir. 2010)the plaintiff proves these
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prima facie elements, the burden then shifisthe defendant gmoyer to prove “by a
preponderance of the evidence tifat employment decision wouldvyeabeen the same absent the
protected conduct.Boulton v. Swvanson, 795 F.3d 526, 531 (6th Cir. 2015). Unlike in the
McDonnel Douglas burden-shifting framework, the burdeimes not shift backo a plaintiff to
show pretext in First Amendment retaliation claimge v. Office of the Racing Commission, 72
F.3d 286, 295 (6th Cir. 2012).

i

The First Amendment rights of a public employee, such as Plaintiff, require “a balance
between the interests tife [public employee], as a citizen commenting upon matters of public
concern and the interest of theatet as an employer, in protimg the efficiencyof the public
services it performs through its employedRi¢kering v. Board of Education, 88 S. Ct. 1731,
1734-35 (1995). To determine thisohguestions must be addresg@drcetti v. Ceballos, 126 S.

Ct. 1951, 1958 (2006). First, “whether the emplogpeke as a citizen on a matter of public
concern.’ld. If so, the second question is whether tredeévant government entity had an adequate
justification for treating the empyee differently fromany other member of the general public.”
Id.

i.

The first question has two components: Weetthe employee spolas a citizen and
whether the language was omatter of public conceriBoulton v. Svanson, 795 F.3d 526, 531—
32 (6th Cir. 2015). Whether an employee spoka agizen depends on whether “the speech at
issue is itself ordinarily within the scope of amployee’s duties, not whether it merely concerns
those duties.’Lane v. Franks, 573 U.S. 228, 239-40 (2014). Irhet words, did the employee

“make][] statements pursuant[his] official duties”?Boulton, 795 F.3d at 532. B\Supreme Court
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has explained that “when public employees maiitestents pursuant to thaifficial duties, the
employees are not speaking as citizens for First Amendment purposes, and the Constitution does
not insulate their communicatis from employer disciplineGarcetti v. Ceballos, 547 U.S. 410,

421 (2006).

The second component is whether the statémias on a matter of public concern. This is
difficult to determine becauseti# boundaries of theublic concern test amot well defined.San
Diego v. Roe, 543 U.S. 77, 83 (2004). Adding to the challengthisf inquiry is tlat “it is hard to
see how any aspect of the operation of any deyaatt of any public bodgould be said not to
constitute a legitimateubject of public concern.Brown v. City of Trenton, 867 F.2d 318, 321—
22 (6th Cir. 1989). The Supreme Cohlias held that language addresaenatter of public concern
“when it can ‘be fairly considered as relating tty anatter of political, soal, or other concern to

the community,” or when it “is a subject of legititeanews interest; that is, a subject of general
interest and of value and concern to the pubfoyder v. Phelps, 131 S. Ct. 1207, 1216 (2011)
(citation omitted)San Diego, 543 U.S. at 84. The “content, form, and context” of the speech must
be considered in makg this determinationConnick v. Myers, 461 U.S. 138, 147-48 (1983).
“Although government effectiveness and efficieramuld generally be considered a matter of
public concern, we have found mere assertariacompetence and poor management decision-
making to be run-of-the-mill empyment disputes—particularly wh the recommended course of
action would bendf the employee.’Boulton, 795 F.3d at 532. However, “speech addresses a

matter of public concern whenalleges corruption and misuse miblic funds, fdure to follow

state law, major state policy decisionsdiscrimination of some formld.
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i

If Plaintiff's speech was spoken as a citizegarding a matter of public concern, the
interests of the state and emmeymust be balanced. Factors to consider in this determination
include whether the employee’s “comments meaunihginterfere with the performance of her
duties, undermine kegitimate goal or missionf the employer, créa disharmony among co-
workers, impair discipline by supers, or destroy the relationstop loyalty and trust required of
confidential employeesWilliams v. Kentucky, 24 F.3d 1526, 1536 (6th Cir. 1994). An employer
is not required to “toleratection which he reasonably beledl would disrupt the office,
undermine his authority, and destrdpse working relationships.’Connick v. Myers, 461 U.S.
138, 154 (1983)Gillis v. Miller, 845 F.3d 677, 688 (6th Cir. 201(finding that an employer’'s
interest in maintaining a cadential investigation outweighqaaintiff's protected speech).

\Y2

Plaintiff alleges she “engaged in constitoitly protected speech on a matter of public
concern by speaking out agaimggnder discrimination’ECF No. 1 at PagelD.8. As a public
employee, Plaintiff's First Amendment rightfree speech only applies when she is speaking on
a topic of public concern as a citizen (not an employee) and whdtidkeeing balancing test
favors her. Plaintiff does not idily which comments she believase protected in her complaint,
but in her response brief, stexplains “[tlhe issue here iwhether complaints of gender
discrimination to human resources and the Proseanéoan ordinary padf Plaintiff’'s duties as
an APA.” ECF No. 65 at PagelD.1711. As a preliamnmatter, there iso evidence McColgan
or Boyd were aware of Plaintg discussion with HR prior tder termination. Accordingly,

Plaintiff cannot establish a causal connection betwher discussion with HR and her termination

-24 -



(step three of the First Amendment retaliation test). The only possible First Amendment retaliation
claim is based upon Plaintiff's complaint to McColgateathe August 14 meeting.

The first part of the First Amendment retaliation test requires a determination of whether
Plaintiff engaged in constitutionally protectedesph. The first inquiry asks whether Plaintiff's
complaint was of a public concern. Plaintiff praesdcaselaw holding that complaints of racial
discrimination, sexual hasament, and sex discrimination arett@ias of public concern. However,
Plaintiff's complaint abut her discussion with McColgavas how she felt embarrassed by Boyd’s
treatment of her as a child. Wever, mistreating Plaintiff aa child, without more, does not
demonstrate a mattef public concern.

Even if the report of Boyd'behavior were a matter of piubkoncern, Plaitiff was not
speaking as a citizen. She reported to McColgan that she waisethdy Boyd for not listening
in the August 14 meeting and her only evidencdisdrimination is the fact that Boyd asked her
to repeat what he said, after she volunteeratishe had heard everyilgi Plaintiff’'s complaint
of Boyd’s behavior was made in thentext of her employnm as an APA. It igrue that Plaintiff
also alleged that she believed Boyd chasttsdbecause she was female, but her belief about
Boyd’s motives, again, without more, does not ntestburden to demonstrate a prima facie case
of First Amendment protected conduct. Acaonglly, Defendants’ motion for summary judgment
as to Plaintiff's First Amendment retdii@n claim, Count Ill, will be granted.

D.
In Count V, Plaintiff allege “Discrimination against Defeadts Saginaw Under the Equal

Pay Act [EPA], 29 USC § 206(d).”

29 U.S.C. 2056(d)(1) provides
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No employer having employees subjectatny provisions of this section shall
discriminate, . . . between employeestbe basis of sex bpaying wages to
employees . . . at a rate less than theattehich he pays wages to employees of
the opposite sex in such establishmenteigual work on jobs the performance of
which requires equal skill, effort, and responsibility, and which are performed
under similar working conditions, except wleauch payment is made pursuant to
() a seniority system; (ii) a merit systefiii) a system which measures earnings
by quantity or quality of producin; or (iv) a differentiabased on any other factor
other than sex: . ..

A prima facie case of wage disnination under the EPA requirespéaintiff to “show that an
employer pays different wages to employeésopposite sexes ‘for equal work on jobs the
performance of which requires equal skill, effand responsibility, rad which are performed
under similar working conditions.’Beck-Wilson v. Principi, 441 F.3d 353, 359 (6th Cir. 2006)
(citing Corning Glass Works v. Brennan, 417 U.S. 188, 195 (1974) (citing 29 U.S.C. §
206(d)(1))). Affirmative defenses that justify a different salary include the assertion that the
employer utilized systems based on seniority,ither which measures earnings by quantity or
quality of production29 U.S.C. § 206(d)(1). In addition, @mployer meet#ts burden if it
demonstrates the decision was motidalby any factor other than gendéd. At the summary
judgment stage, “the employer must prove #$&t provides no part of the basis for the wage
differential.” Balmer v. HCA, Inc., 423 F.3d 606, 612 (6th Cir. 2005) (abrogated-by v. Vice,
563 U.S. 826 (2011) on separate questiocoofpensation for frivolous claims).

i.

In her complaint Plaintiff alleges that “shvas promoted to APA Il and given job duties,
however, she was not paidmmensurate with the position, swshsimilarly situated male APA’s
were paid. [ ] Had Plaintiff been paid a waggial to that of the male employees who performed
equal work to the work she perfoeah she would have been paidadtigher rate.” ECF No. 1 at
PagelD.10-11. Plaintiff has scant evidence that whs paid at an APA | scale after being

promoted to an APA Il. First, she arguesttiwo APA | male employees had APA 1l PCN

classifications and were paidthe APA Il level without actuallypeing promoted to APA II. Of
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the two APAs who were paid at the APA 1l level while retaining their APA | positions, one was a
botched attempt to provide a bonus and the evidengeclear as to APA Reimer’s PCN status at
the time of his promotion. This is not evidence of APA lls being paid at an APA | rate, as Plaintiff
alleges occurred with her. Even if it wereaiRtiff does not demongtte that she was ever
promoted to APA Il. Second, she argues that only one male APA | was reclassified as an APA Il
without a commensurate pay increaB&intiff is correct that # fact that one male APA was
treated the same as her does not necessarily undermine her corfplaiexer, she provides no
evidence of how this fact supports her case.

According to the collective bargaining agreem@haintiff should be moving in lockstep
compensation under Section 9.3 exchpt promotions. This is wdre Defendants’ lack of an
explanation about compensation makle sense. There is namanation for tle assignment of
APAs to the classifications or for deviating from Section 9.3. HoweRiaintiff provides no
evidence of how the compensgatishe received was less thaales who were performing the
same employment tasks as she was. Plaintsfriwd furnished persuasive evidence that she was
actually promoted to APA Il during her employme8he also has not demonstrated that a male
APA | was paid more than her except for the xceptions noted previously. Plaintiff's belief
that she was promoted because her PCN numl@égel and the fact that she was assigned as a
docket attorney is insufficient to demonstrate #tet was, in fact, promoted. She is not the only
APA | to have her PCN “movedd APA Il while her compensation remained at APA | level. She
is also not the only attorney who worked asaasigned docket attawm while receiving APA |
compensation. Plaintiff has failed to demonstrgidraa facie case thatsiperformed equal work
as compared to individuals who were APA Is tainpensated at the APA Il pay scale. Therefore,

Defendants’ motion for summary judgmt on Count V will be granted.
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.
Accordingly, it iSORDERED that Defendants’ Motion fcSummary Judgment, ECF No.
62, iSGRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART .
It is furtherORDERED that Counts I, Ill, IV, and V arBISMISSED.
It is further ORDERED that Defendants County of Saginaw and Saginaw County

Prosecuting Attorney’s Office ai2lSMISSED.

Dated:SeptembeR9, 2020 s/Thomas. Ludington
THOMASL. LUDINGTON
Lhited States District Judge
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